1968

byron C. Watts v. Ardith D. Watts : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment entered on plaintiff's motion to modify a prior judgment of the court dated August 4, 1967, which petition sought the termination of alimony and the change of custody of a minor child, Craig Watts, age 10 years.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court refused to modify the decree of August 4, 1967, granted the counter-petition of defendant, found the plaintiff in contempt of court, entered

judgment against him for \$972.81, restrained him from interfering with the defendant and the child Craig, and enjoined the other son, Christopher, from in any way interfering with the relationship. Plaintiff's petition for modification was dismissed with prejudice and defendant's counter-petition was dismissed without prejudice. Plaintiff was ordered to pay the cost of an audit by Main LaFrentz and the reporter's fee for the transcription of the proceedings.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to have the court reverse the order of the trial court, terminate the alimony to the defendant, and grant to him the custody of the minor child, Craig Watts.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a second appeal in the above-entitled matter by plaintiff and involves the following circumstances. The judgment in Case No. 11072 was dated the 4th of August, 1967 and amended October 4, 1967. On the 15th of August, 1967 the defendant obtained employment with a law firm as a file clerk and telephone receptionist, earning at the rate of \$275.00 per month (See counter-petition and R. 27).

The child, Craig Watts, had never, prior to the decree of August 4, 1967, exercised his right of selection (R. 14). Both parents are good people. The

custody of the child was awarded to the defendant by the decree without contest.

At the hearing on the 27th of December, 1967 it was stated that the child had moved in with his father (R. 14). Defendant indicated that she wanted both of the boys, Chris and Craig Watts, she thought both of the boys should be kept together (R. 15). It was indicated by plaintiff that the boys love each other and want to be together (R. 15). He indicated that he did everything in his power to get the boy Graig to return home and stay with his mother (R. 16). The court indicated that he would force the child Craig back to defendant's custody whether he wanted to go or not (R. 17). The court had received a copy from the Conciliation Department of a report of their study by Mr. Blatner (R. 18), and also an audit of the financial condition of Byron C. Watts & Company made by Main LaFrentz (R. 18). The child Craig had expressed his wish to the court that he be permitted to live with his father (R. 18). Requiring Craig to live with his mother was primarily to benefit the mother (R. 19). Both the father and mother are fit and proper persons to have the custody.

Exhibit P-6, prepared by Main LaFrentz Company pursuant to the court's direction, is an audit of the books of Byron C. Watts & Company for the ten months ended October 31, 1967. The Balance Sheet on Page 2 and 3 show that Mr. Watts has

a deficit of \$31,591.00. The Statement of Income shows a net loss, after taking into account the divorce settlement order, of \$6,979.00. (P. 4). On Page of the accounting statement it shows that Watt started the year with a net deficit of \$12,350.00 which was increased to \$31,591.00 during the first ten months of the period. The Main LaFrentz audit in general confirms the financial information furnished by plaintiff at the trial with some minor, non-material, variances.

Plaintiff seeks the termination of alimony in his petition for modification upon the ground that defendant, having become gainfully employed, is no longer solely dependent upon the plaintiff for her livelihood and is capable of supporting herself. Plaintiff also asked the court to modify the decree relating to the Cadillac automobile which was awarded to defendant and on which he was ordered to pay the mortgage then due and owing of \$2,000.00. He requested modification of the order for attorney's fee in that no time was specified as to when it should be paid. He requested a general modification to meet the demonstrated inability of plaintiff to pay and provide for the numerous obligations incurred by the parties during their marriage which he had been ordered to pay.

Defendant's counter-petition set forth a denial of the allegations that the child Craig had made a

election to live with the plaintiff, requested the court to order plaintiff not to interfere with the parental discipline of the child Craig, set forth that the Cadillac automobile was in the process of being repossessed and the mortgage on the same foreclosed, and requesting that the court find the plaintiff in willful contempt for failure to pay the mortgage on the automobile. The petition also alleged that the plaintiff had failed to pay the second mortgage on the home at 4270 Vallejo Drive.

She denies that the employment at a salary of \$275.00 per month is a sufficient change of circumstances to entitle plaintiff to a reduction of alimony, and claims that a net cash flow of \$700.00 per month is required. Defendant further alleged that the plaintiff was delinquent in his payments of support and alimony and requested a judgment as to the amount of delinquencies. She requested the court to order plaintiff to pay the mortgage payments on the Windsor Street property, discharge the lien on said property in favor of J. A. Mollerup, bring the mortgage on the home at Vallejo Drive current, bring the Memorial Gardens burial plot account current, show that the life insurance premiums are paid, and pay numerous open accounts. She claimed that plaintiff had willfully refused to pay the attorney's fees and costs of court ordered by the prior judgment of August 4, 1967.

The counter-petition requested the court to take punitive measures to force plaintiff into compliance and appoint a receiver to take over the plaintiff's assets and liquidate same. She seeks to enjoin the plaintiff and his son Christopher from interfering in the relationship between her and Craig and asks for an additional attorney's fee of \$500.00.

On these pleadings the court found the plaintiff guilty of willful contempt, deferring the sentencing of plaintiff until the further order of the court. He entered judgment of \$972.01 against plaintiff, restrained the boy Christopher and plaintiff from interfering with the relationship between the defendant and Craig.

He dismissed plaintiff's petition for modification with prejudice and defendant's counter-petition without prejudice, and ordered the plaintiff to pay the costs of the Main LaFrentz audit and reporter's costs.

Plaintiff has before this court at the present time an appeal from the original decree which he believes demonstrates that it is economically and physically impossible for him to perform the orders of the court. The brief of plaintiff in said appeal sets forth in detail resources that were acquired by the parties during their marriage and the distribution made by the court, and plaintiff will not restate or reargue said material. It is his opinion that it would be repetitious.

and the court may refer thereto if it sees fit for an explanation of the property distribution decree.

A R G U M E N T
P O I N T I

THE CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES JUSTIFIES
A MODIFICATION OF THE COURT'S DECREE
OF AUGUST 4, 1967 AS AMENDED BY THE
AMENDMENT OF OCTOBER 4, 1967.

The law of the State of Utah permitting the modification of decrees distributing property at the time of a divorce is U.C.A. 30-3-5. The language of said section, which is apropos to this problem, reads as follows:

“Such subsequent changes or new orders may be made by the court with respect to the disposal of the children or the distribution of property as shall be reasonable and proper.”

In interpreting this section, this court has set down the rule that a party must allege and prove changed conditions arising since the entry of the decree which require, under rules of equity and justice, a change in the decree. *Gardner v. Gardner*, 177 P. 2d 743, 111 U. 286. In *Osmus v. Osmus*, 198 P. 2d 233, 114 U. 216, the court stated the rule, that if an alimony decree is inequitable because of change of circumstances of the parties, a divorced husband may petition for modification. The circumstances must require, in fairness

and in equity, that a change in the terms of the decree be made.

This court has also set a limitation on its power and has stated that it will modify the trial court's decree only when there is an abuse of discretion and the award is not legally sound. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 138 P. 2d 252, 104 U. 104.

The court on several occasions has reduced the amount of alimony where the circumstances were such as to require, under the rules of equity and justice, a change of decree. *Hampton v. Hampton*, 47 P. 2d 419, 86 U. 570; *Chaffee v. Chaffee*, 225 Pac. 76, 63 U. 261; *Rockwood v. Rockwood*, 236 Pac. 457, 65 U. 261.

In *Hendricks v. Hendricks*, 63 P. 2d 277, 91 U. 553, the court found that the trial court's refusal to modify an alimony decree on the ground of changed circumstances was error where there was a demonstration that the price of wheat had suffered a substantial reduction which affected adversely the ex-husband's ability to pay. The court held that a husband was entitled to apply for a judgment of modification where the wife had remarried and was supported by her new husband. See *Anderson v. Anderson*, 172 P. 2d 132, 110 U. 300.

In *Callister v. Callister*, 261 P. 2d 944, 1 Utah 2d 34, this court held that it had the right to modify

decrees even if they were satisfactory to the parties to the marriage where the support of the child or for alimony was unreasonable and that the court could change these matters over the objection of both parties. Such a course was followed in *Jorgensen v. Jorgensen*, 406 P. 2d 304, 17 Utah 2d 159, where a readjustment of alimony was made after the children had reached their majorities and no longer required the father to support them.

The court has held, however, that modifications in divorce decrees would not be made where it was unreasonable to make such modification. *Cole v. Cole*, 239 P. 2d 615, 121 U. 151.

To justify modification, the trial court should have before it circumstances which have undergone a substantial change. *Gale v. Gale*, 258 P. 2d 986, 123 U. 277. In *Carlton v. Carlton*, 294 P. 2d 316, 4 Utah 2d 332, the refusal of the husband to make house payments which he had paid voluntarily and without the requirement by court decree in the past, was sufficient change of circumstances to justify modification and increase in the alimony for the wife to permit her to make such payments.

Only where changed circumstances are demonstrated is a party entitled to have a modification made. In *Anderson v. Anderson*, 368 P. 2d 264, 13 Utah 2d 36, the court ordered that the question of

costs and attorney's fees could also be examined in a petition for modification.

The financial reports which are a part of the record on appeal clearly demonstrate that the plaintiff's economic resources are not sufficient to comply with the court's decrees, that there has been a change on the part of defendant. She now has substantial earnings—\$275.00 per month. In equity and good conscience, a change in the court decree is required.

POINT II

THE MINOR CHILD, CRAIG WATTS, SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO EXERCISE HIS RIGHT TO SELECT THE PARENT TO WHOM HE WISHES HIS CUSTODY AWARDED.

UCA 30-3-5 governs the right of a child to make his selection. The relevant language of said section reads as follows:

“That if any of the children have attained the age of ten years and are of sound mind, such children shall have the privilege of selecting the parent to which they will attach themselves.”

This court, in one of the early cases, held that where a parent is not immoral or an unfit person to have the care and custody of a child, the court would find that it is in the best interests of the child that it be awarded in the manner it selected. *Dorsey v. Dorsey*, 172 P. 722, 52 Utah 73. See also *Anderson*

v. *Anderson*, 172 P. 2d 132, 110 Utah 300. In re *Olson*, 180 P. 2d 210, 111 U. 364, this court has held that in the matters involving child custody the appeal is of an equitable nature and that the court will review both the law and the facts.

In *Smith v. Smith*, 262 P. 2d 283, 1 Utah 2d 75, the court changed the award of custody where it appeared that the child under supervision of the parent who was not awarded the custody had made considerable progress, it being in the child's interest that his custody be changed.

Motzkus v. Motzkus, 406 P. 2d 31, 17 Utah 2d 154, a recent decision decided by this court held the paramount consideration is the welfare of the child. A motion to dismiss petition to modify and change custody should not have been granted.

In the present case the boy himself has contacted the court on several occasions and expressed his wish to live with his father and older brother. At the time of the hearing he had made the change over the objection of his mother. These facts, it would seem to plaintiff, demonstrate that this child is anxious to live with his father and brother and will not be happy living with his mother. He will not voluntarily live with her. UCA 30-3-5, it is submitted, may be a recognition by the Legislature that when a child reaches ten years of age he has a will which should

be taken into consideration in awarding his custody. This factor, plus the belief that such children have a sufficiently developed discretion to choose the home where they will be happiest, furnish the rationale of the act.

It is submitted that this conduct of the child shows a determination on his part which bolsters his express selection of his father as the party with whom he desires to live. In *Anderson v. Anderson*, 172 P. 2d 132, 110 U. 300, a situation similar to that before the court at this time was presented. There the parents had failed to plead the welfare of the child and it had not been made a matter of dispute at the time of the divorce. Subsequently the child did express his choice. This court set down the rule that where the choice was not a temporary whim, not dictated by some present lure, but is the considered judgment of the child, that it may well be the determining factor. In *Smith v. Smith*, 386 P. 2d 900, 15 Utah 2d 30, the court moved further to strengthen the child's right of selection. It held that where the parents were both fit, the child must be awarded to the parent chosen (P. 37). In *Stone v. Stone*, 431 P. 2d 802, 19 Utah 2d 378, the court stated where the child makes his choice in supplemental proceedings to the divorce it is only advisory (P. 381).

It would seem rather convincing to plaintiff that the happiness and welfare of a child ten years of age

is not served by being placed in the custody of a parent he does not prefer, while no reason exists for his custody not being with the parent he does prefer.

The child knows he is desired by both parents and they are both fit. This case is the first that we have discovered where the custody is viewed as a benefit to the parent, so the wishes of the child and the other parent are overridden (R. 16). The trial court seemed to recognize he might not be able to obtain compliance by the child voluntarily and even hinted at punishment of the child if he did not obey (R.17).

It is difficult to believe such an order is in the best interest of the child. Certainly it would make for an unhappy and rebellious one. Other than the mother's comfort, what reason can there be for overruling the child's wishes.

It would seem to be that the law of the state of Utah is that a child should be permitted to select a fit parent and that this would be conclusive as far as the trial court is concerned where no factors demonstrating that his selection would be contrary to his best interests are presented.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence shows that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to modify the decree of court heretofore entered and refusing to permit the minor child Craig to live with his father. The custody decree should be modified awarding his care, custody and control to his father. This court should order other modifications making for an equitable decree or a new trial should be granted.