1968

byron C. Watts v. Ardith D. Watts : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant seeks to modify a divorce decree by terminating alimony and securing custody of the minor child of the parties.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The decree sought to be modified was entered on August 4, 1967. The original decree is to be found in Case No. 11072 in this court in which case an appeal pends from the judgment entered on the 4th day of October, 1967 modifying the original judgment.

The August 4, 1967 decree awarded to respondent the child Craig who was born April 9, 1957, the court finding, among other things, that such was in the best interests of said child (Finding No. 6). The trial court in the instant matter rejected appellant's petition for change of custody.

The trial court denied appellant's petition for termination of alimony and awarded respondent judgment

for \$972.81, the same constituting arrearages of alimony and support money for September, October and November, 1967 and held appellant to be guilty of willful contempt in the nonpayment of the same. Sentence for such contempt was deferred until the further order of the court.

Appellant asked that the decree be modified to require the Cadillac automobile sold and the proceeds applied on the mortgage lien. By the time of the hearing the Cadillac automobile was repossessed by the mortgage holder. Appellant's petition in that particular was denied.

Appellant asked that the home previously awarded to respondent be ordered sold, respondent to have the net proceeds "since said home is beyond the needs of the defendant residing by herself." The trial court denied this facet of appellant's petition and other but less specific claims for relief.

Appellant and the boy Christopher were restrained and enjoined from in any manner interfering in the relationship between respondent and the son Craig as defined and delineated in the August 4, 1967 decree.

Appellant's petition for modification was dismissed with prejudice and he was ordered to pay the fee of the accountant and the court reporter. So far as the record discloses there has been no payment of the same. Respondent's cross-petition, except for matters ruled upon in her favor, was dismissed without prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, under the guise of his petition for modification, is actually attempting to have this court review the August 4, 1967 decree in the same manner as if it were the decree appealed from. Appellant was in default at the time of the filing of his petition for modification and remained in default throughout the proceedings. He was not entitled to be heard in the court below and is not entitled to be heard now. In any event there is nothing justifying a modification and the order appealed from should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

An investigation ordered by the trial court (R. 46-48) developed that Craig was persuaded both by appellant and by the boy Christopher, now 17 years of age, to move from the mother's home and that the environment with the father was not good (Ex. P-5).

Hearings in the instant matter were held December 27, and December 30, 1967. Appellant had paid nothing for the month of December, 1967 and was in arrears in the total sum of \$972.81 for alimony and support money accrued since the entry of the decree on August 4th, through the month of November, 1967. Respondent was existing on the sum of \$275.00 a month, the salary that she was receiving as a receptionist and file clerk. As reflected by the August 4th findings, respondent has a severe heart condition which restricts her ability to earn a livelihood.

Appellant in his brief makes the rather oblique statement that requiring Craig "to live with his mother was primarily to benefit the mother" (P. 3). This was appellant's counsel's statement (R. 19) and only he knows what was intended but the fact is that we have a good mother who wants her boy (R. 16-17) and who feels that if her former husband had performed as ordered by the court the boy would not have left her (R. 14-15).

Appellant's net earnings increased substantially over those upon which the alimony award was based and this and other relevant matters will be urged by way of argument.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ISSUE OF GOOD FAITH AND CREDIBILITY

Appellant's petition for modification dated October 13, 1967 (Tr. 30-33) followed the overruling of the motion for a new trial which ruling was made on September 28, 1967. The question of good faith was pointed up early in the instant matter. The notice of appeal in Case No. 11072 in this court dated November 2, 1967, indicates appellant's dual purpose. He was asking the trial court to modify the same decree that he was asking this court to review by an appeal route (R. 21-22). He stated to the trial court that his appeal was "from the original decree" (R. 21).

The question of bad faith with respect to the appeal in Case No. 11072 is accentuated by the fact that the

parties were in court on the 28th day of October, 1967, in the instant matter (R. 46-48) when the court on its own motion appointed an accountant to review appellant's financial affairs and appointed an investigator to determine among other things why the son Craig had left the domicile of respondent. The notice of appeal in Case No. 11072 dated the 2nd day of November, 1967, was obviously an afterthought and as a hedge against the anticipated findings by the investigator that the home environment furnished by appellant for Craig "is not good." (Exhibit P-5)

To cap the climax, appellant sought to have the trial court defer the custody problem until the decision of this court in Case No. 11072 (R. 21-22). Appellant was not only trifling with the court but he was preying upon the deep emotional aspect of the situation and through his nonpayment of alimony and support money was literally starving respondent into submitting to his whim.

At the time of the hearing on December 27th, two days after Christmas, the appellant had paid nothing by way of alimony and support for the month of December and was \$972.81 in arrears in his payments for September, October and November. The Cadillac automobile had been repossessed (R. 80). The check (Exhibit 8) dated October 23, 1967 spoke falsely when it stated that the mortgage payment on the home property in the amount of \$213.00 had been paid (R. 65). The payment to respondent on the 27th day of September, 1967

in the amount of \$287.00 falsely implied that the mortgage payment for that month had been paid. On December 30th, the date at the last hearing, the mortgage on the home property was in default and had been since August.

Just before the hearing on December 27, Craig, after having stayed with his mother for a week or so told her over the telephone "You take Daddy to court one more time, I will not speak to you" (R. 23-24). In the hallway of the courtroom on the date of the hearing the 17 year old boy Chris told respondent "I heard everything in there. Don't speak to me." (R. 24). The influence of appellant was apparent. Bad manners and bad faith are synonymous and emanate from appellant.

Appellant's cash receipts for the month of November, 1967 were \$4,097.25 (R. 34). Respondent was paid nothing for that month. The December 1967 cash flow was not made known (R. 35) but in December 1966 it was \$7,596.00 (R. 33). The representation was that appellant's net income for the month of October, 1967 was \$170.03 and for the month of November \$344.47 (R. 31-32). The cry of "poor mouth" was dissipated when it was determined that appellant's books were kept on an accrual basis (R. 34). Page 9 of Exhibit P-6 discloses admitted net cash income for ten months ending October 31, 1967 of \$17,171.00.

At the hearing on December 30, 1967 appellant testified that out of his drawing of \$447.00 for October, 1967 rent of \$150.00 per month was included (R. 75). On

cross examination appellant vacillated on the rent item and said "I didn't pay this in October, I guess" (R. 80) and then "I paid it in November" (R. 81) and then "I owe it (rent) to him" and then finally "I haven't paid it" (R. 81).

Weasel words were used by appellant in describing his alleged efforts to abide with the prior order of the court relative to custody of Craig. "Chris * * * is aggressive, precocious youngster, but just because he is a little pushy, not just to you Your Honor, but everybody, is a little bit annoying. * * * One of the reasons he is pushy is he loves this young boy and wants him there and Craig wants to be there" (R. 15). The trial court reminded appellant that on an occasion during the divorce hearing he had personally expressed the belief and desire that Craig should live with respondent (R. 18). In answer appellant stated:

MR. WATTS: "I didn't realize if this is pertinent, what the rights were at that time, what the rights of the children were" (R. 19).

THE COURT: "The record may reflect he did not. You do recall that at the hearing that it was agreed between you and Mrs. Watts, the boy Chris should stay with you and Craig with Mrs. Watts. Do you recall?"

MR. WATTS: "Not exactly that way. I recall I was asked, 'Will you take care of your boy if he is awarded to you,' and I said, 'Yes, I would.' 'Would you help Mrs. Watts with the younger if he were awarded to her?'" (R. 19).

The court was amply justified in the finding that there was no substantial or any change of circumstance entitling appellant to a modification and that there was no good faith effort to perform (R. 53). The trier of the fact was justified in disbelieving appellant on any material issue.

POINT II.

IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENT'S CUSTODY OF THE SON CRAIG

The findings of August 4, 1967, paragraphs 4, 5 and 6, spell out with considerable detail the reasoning and the ground rules with regard to the award of custody of Craig to respondent. In finding No. 6 the court finds that it is in the best interests of the child Craig that he be awarded to respondent. Finding No. 4 is descriptive of the mother's aptitude in such respect as follows:

"That the parties have no natural children as issue of said marriage, they being, nevertheless, the foster parents of the child Christopher, born April 6, 1951, and the parents by adoption of the Child Craig, born April 9, 1957; that defendant has deep and sincere maternal affection for both of said children, having reared and nurtured the child Christopher since he was of the age of approximately two years and the child Craig since birth and has the temperament and the ability to provide each of said children with proper home, school and church environments, and is in all respects a fit and proper person to have the care, custody and control of said children awarded to her and has expressed such to be her desire."

Appellant by his complaint filed in August 1966 alleges that respondent is entitled to have custody awarded to her. At the trial of the divorce action in July, 1967 appellant was equally as solicitous of the best interests of Craig and did, in fact, assure the trial court of his utmost cooperation in a harmonious relationship with Craig in the custody of respondent and Chris in the custody of appellant.

In the instant proceeding the report of the investigator comprehensively reviews the relative environments offered by both parties and describes the facilities offered by appellant as being "a stale environment" for the boys and particularly Craig. It is stated that appellant leaves Chris with the responsibility of the younger boy. According to the report, Craig is of the impression that his father is going to get him a dog and a horse if he, Craig, will live with the father. The father has supplied Chris with a new Toyota Corona automobile and Craig has a "hero-worshipping" attitude with respect to Chris.

The trial court had the opportunity of talking with Craig subsequent to the divorce (R. 18) and in the judgment appealed from reiterated the admonition contained in the original findings and decree to the effect that appellant and the boy Christopher should in no manner interfere in those respects (R. 54).

The trial court when threatened by counsel with an appeal in the instant matter specifically stated that no change of circumstance had occurred since the finding in the original hearing of the matter; that respondent

continues to be a fit and proper person to have such custody; and that it is in the best interest of the child that respondent has the custody of Craig "That is my reasoning and my finding" (R. 20). At another place in the record the trial court expressed the view that Craig is not "frustrated * * * there has not been abuse by his mother. He is just having a heyday. It is going to take a painful re-adjustment." (R. 17).

There is much that can be said concerning the "pushy" attitude of the "precocious youngster" Chris, but of extreme significance are the overt acts of appellant in breeding contempt for law and the order of the court. Appellant has disregarded the order of the court. Chris has disregarded the order of the court and now Craig has no compunction in giving way to his own whims rather than to regiment himself to and conform with any discipline whether it be from the mother or from the court. In this respect appellant challenges the trial court and invites this court to condone the disrespect so plainly evidenced.

In essence, the question of custody, realigns the respondent on the one side, with the precociousness and "pushy" domination of Chris on the other side. Appellant, the father, is either too weak or too disinterested in the role entrusted to him by the court or else he is actively aiding and abetting Chris in inducing Craig to make a mockery out of the court order and the mother's directives. If appellant is, in fact, using Chris as a shield to hide a direct affront to the order of the court.

his conduct is most reprehensible. The record viewed in a light most charitable to the appellant makes him the victim of the precociousness of Chris. In any event, and regardless of whether it is appellant or Chris that dominates the roost we are at the grass roots of respect for law and order. The trial judge unequivocally stated: "The boys better learn to obey. This boy ought to realize, maybe with a steel fist approach with some velvet on it. Maybe we ought to use it to show this ten year old he is not immune. He has to operate by law. If there was some disadvantage in either of these people — there is not. These are both good people. That youngster ought to learn that." (R. 14)

What appellant is contending for and what he seeks this court to condone is that if you do not like a law or the order of the court "ignore it."

In *Stone v. Stone*, 19 Utah 2d 378, 431 P.2d 802 (1967) the majority court cites *Anderson v. Anderson*, 110 Utah 300, 172 P.2d 132 (1946) as holding that in proceedings supplemental to the divorce the choice of the older children as to parental custody is advisory only. The *Anderson* case is cited in the dissenting opinion to the effect that the election of the child ten years or more of age applies only at the time of the divorce.

"To permit children to change custody when they arrive at the age of ten years would be to enable them to pit one parent against the other, and this the court will not do."

There is no question but what a rebellious attitude has already been instilled in Craig that will not be cor-

rected overnight by the judgment of this court or of the lower court. Respondent will have at least the opportunity once this court has spoken to be left alone with her boy without the overt and willful acts on the part of appellant calculated, as the record so clearly shows, to frustrate the same. The effort on the part of respondent will be a difficult one but it will be aided immeasurably by the final ruling of this court that the order granting her such custody is no longer the subject of vacillation or debate. Proper corrective measures from that point on can be taken both by respondent and the trial court. This, for the moment at least, is all that one can reasonably expect.

POINT III.

THERE SHOULD BE NO CHANGE IN THE ALIMONY AWARD.

Appellant seeks to terminate the alimony award. There is nothing in the record to support relief of that nature.

The temporary award in January, 1967, required appellant to pay \$638.00 a month to his family (R. 64). The August 4th decree required the payment of \$350.00 per month as alimony and \$150.00 per month for the support of Craig. Finding No. 7 as entered on August 4, 1967 fixes appellant's gross income at approximately \$4,300.00 per month from all sources with an average net income from his accounting practice of \$13,215.00 per year. The net cash income for the first six months of 1967 was \$8,013.00. The trial court found respondent

to have a health condition that inhibits her from work involving excessive strain and tension.

Finding No. 8 as entered on August 4, 1967 expressly states that it is contemplated respondent will obtain some remunerative employment within her capacity; that the present award of alimony is inadequate relative to the standard of living of the parties prior to their separation and the contributions made by respondent to the marriage; that remunerative employment within the capacity of respondent should not be treated as a change of circumstances sufficient in and of itself to entitle appellant to any reduction of alimony unless it is made to appear that such remuneration, coupled with the present *payment* of alimony and child support, exceeds the sum of \$700.00 per month and then only as to such part of such remuneration as exceeds the *gross cash flow* of \$700.00 per month.

In the instant matter and at the time of the hearing appellant was in arrears in the payment of alimony and support and had been in arrears ever since the entry of the August 4th decree. Appellant was not entitled to be heard at all with respect to reduction of alimony, this being an equitable proceeding and his hands not being very clean.

The award of alimony was predicated on appellant's net earnings for the first six months of 1967 of approximately \$1,335.00 per month. At the time of the hearing, appellant from his own figures (Exhibit P-6) had net cash income for ten months of \$17,171.00 or approxi-

imately \$1,717.00 per month. The gain in favor of appellant over the base figures used in the August 4th decree is \$382.00 per month and in equity and good conscience the paper gain of \$75.00 per month to respondent is of trifling consideration.

The judgment and discretion of the trial court with its advantage in making perhaps a sounder appraisal of the situation, including the issue of credibility, is entitled to considerable weight. This is recognized by this court in the recent case of *Sorensen v. Sorensen*, 438 P.2d 180 (Utah 1968). In the *Sorensen* case it is held that the parties are entitled to rely on the finality of the alimony award in determining the right to receive and the duty to pay and then summarizes as follows:

“Our statute permits subsequent changes which are reasonable and proper. This has been construed to empower the court to make a modification where there has been a substantial change in the material circumstances of either one or both of the parties since the decree was entered. An application for a modification should be subjected to thorough scrutiny by the court. There are many factors that can have a bearing on the resolution of the question.”

The trial court in the instant matter placed some weight on appellant's admission that he could be as conservative or as profligate as he cared (R. 67) but stated that the original concept of the alimony award found support in the independent audit Exhibit P-6 (R. 68). In any event, the burden to show a change of circum-

stances was upon appellant and this he failed to do. *Sorensen v. Sorensen, supra.*

It seems somewhat of a distortion of the connotation of equity, justice and fair play to say that a man who is able-bodied with substantial earning capacity can withhold what the court has ordered him to pay and then when his wife is forced into a meager salary in order to survive that there is thereby brought about a situation entitling him to modification without having first responded to his moral and legal obligation to pay under the prior order.

CONCLUSION

To affirm the order appealed from will give respondent and the son Craig some semblance of security and respondent a clear opportunity to enforce compliance. The present record justifies punitive action against appellant not only with regard to enforcement of respondent's rights but as a precedent for the adult and child alike who might believe themselves to be immune from the orderly processes of the law. We urge that the judgment appealed from be affirmed with such admonition as to the court seems meet and proper in the premises.